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More Praise for The Spymasters

“Chris Whipple has become in recent years something of a Washington elite whisperer. In The Spymasters—as in his equally masterful book, The Gatekeepers—he gets almost everyone to spill their secrets.”

—David Friend, Vanity Fair

“Riveting… a timely reminder of the outsize influence of our nation’s intelligence bureaucracy—and the men and women who live in this wilderness of mirrors. ‘They were all asked to do things they shouldn’t do,’ says Cynthia Helms, wife of the legendary CIA director Richard Helms. Whipple explores these ethical quandaries with nuance and fairness.”

—Kai Bird, Pulitzer Prize–winning author of The Good Spy: The Life and Death of Robert Ames

“Astute… At a time when America’s intelligence community is under attack from conspiracy theories and fake news, Whipple provides a real-world history of those who have held one of the most difficult posts in Washington. These portraits are accurate, fair, and informative.”

—John W. Dean, Nixon administration White House counsel and bestselling author of Conservatives Without Conscience

“The job of CIA director is as difficult as it is important. He or she must predict the future while steering through a moral morass. No wonder the spymasters in Chris Whipple’s engrossing story so often trip up. Whipple is at once clear-eyed and fair-minded while giving us a riveting read.”

—Evan Thomas, New York Times bestselling author of The Very Best Men: The Daring Early Years of the CIA

“Chris Whipple has previously garnered wide acclaim for his history of the White House chiefs of staff. He now replicates that methodology with equal success in this history of CIA directors from Richard Helms to Gina Haspel. His group portrait of the DCIs offers a highly readable, fair, and well-researched history of the CIA over the past fifty years. He comes neither to pillory the CIA nor to praise it but, rather, to understand it—and he fully succeeds.”

—Max Boot, New York Times bestselling author of The Road Not Taken: Edward Lansdale and the American Tragedy in Vietnam

“The Spymasters will make you proud, and depressed. It will also cause you to lose sleep, not just because of the dangers we face, but because it’s so damned riveting it will keep you up until all hours. How Whipple managed to pull so much history together, how he extracted such a wealth of detail from his principal sources—the CIA leaders themselves—is quite simply mind-boggling. This is an important book. And one hell of a story.”

—Christopher Buckley, author of The White House Mess and Thank You for Smoking
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INTRODUCTION “There’s something going on.”


In his seventh-floor office overlooking the wooded campus of Langley, Virginia, John Brennan sat at a conference table, hunched over his laptop. It was midnight, August 2, 2016, and the CIA director was surrounded by debris—black binders, white legal pads, a bowl of cold soup. It was not unusual for him to be there at all hours, poring over intelligence reports; in more than three years as head of the world’s most powerful spy agency, Brennan often worked well into the night, trying to connect the dots of an imminent terrorist attack. But he’d never seen anything like the threat he was now confronting.

With his perpetual scowl, Brennan looked like an Old Testament prophet. At just over six feet, he was all elbows and knees; Barack Obama dubbed him “Jumping John”—a nod to Brennan’s boast that in his youth he could dunk a basketball (before three hip replacements and multiple knee surgeries). More often, given the dire news the director usually brought him, the president called him “Dr. Doom.”

A CIA insider, Brennan had joined the agency in 1980 on a whim and become a covert operative. But he was ill-suited to the clannish priesthood of the agency’s clandestine service; within a year he’d left the Directorate of Operations (DO) to become an analyst. Introverted and soft-spoken, Brennan was the opposite of his mentor, George Tenet, the gregarious director who’d run the CIA under Bill Clinton and George W. Bush. The cigar-chomping Tenet had prowled the corridors of Langley, backslapping and cajoling the workforce.

The attacks of 9/11 had been preceded by a cacophony of warnings, “red lights flashing.” But this threat, in the summer of 2016, was different—more like a gathering storm. “When you’re CIA director there are a lot of clouds up there,” Brennan recalled. “You’re looking out, and sometimes they’re far off and they’re forming. And you get the barometric readings. And sometimes there is that burning piece of intelligence that says: ‘there’s going to be an attack tomorrow.’ Other times, you realize, there’s something going on.”

Something ominous had been going on throughout 2016, much of it in broad daylight. In March, the Russian intelligence agency, GRU, began hacking the email accounts of Clinton campaign officials, including chairman John Podesta. The following month hackers linked to Russia broke into the website of the Democratic National Committee (DNC); a huge cache of stolen emails was released on the eve of the Democratic National Convention. Equally troubling was the behavior of the eventual Republican nominee, Donald Trump, who seemed to echo Moscow’s talking points. Members of his campaign staff had been in contact with officials linked to Russian intelligence. Then, in July 2016, Trump brazenly dared Moscow to illegally hack into Clinton’s emails: “Russia, if you’re listening, I hope you’re able to find the 30,000 emails that are missing.” That same day, the Russians made their first effort to break into servers used by Clinton’s office.

In late July, Brennan told his experts to pull together everything they’d gathered on the Russian threat since the beginning of the year: SIGINT (signals intelligence, from electronic intercepts), HUMINT (human intelligence, from spies), and open-source analysis (public sources). No one was better than Brennan at sifting through and interpreting raw material from disparate sources—and he now realized it added up to one thing: The Russians were poised to launch a crippling cyberattack on the American electoral system. (Brennan and the CIA weren’t yet aware of the extent of the social media disinformation campaign that would also be deployed.) The Russians’ goal was not just to sow chaos and confusion but to tip the 2016 presidential election to Donald J. Trump.

And there was one other thing. According to a top secret source, a CIA asset inside the Kremlin, the order for this unprecedented assault had come from Russian president Vladimir Putin himself.

It was an intelligence bombshell, Brennan realized; the president would have to be informed. But how? Every morning, the CIA routed to the commander in chief a top secret digest of threat developments around the world: the President’s Daily Brief (PDB). But Brennan thought this latest intelligence was too sensitive for the PDB, which was circulated to more than a dozen administration officials. This new information called for an urgent meeting with the president and his closest advisers. Brennan decided to send a note to the White House, an envelope hand-delivered by a courier. It would be marked “eyes only,” restricted to just five people: President Obama; chief of staff Denis McDonough; National Security Adviser Susan Rice; her deputy, Avril Haines; and Homeland Security Adviser Lisa Monaco.

Every CIA director faces a defining crisis. Tenet had faced three: the attacks of 9/11; the brutal prisoner interrogation program known as “enhanced interrogation techniques” (EIT); and the CIA’s botched intelligence on Iraq’s weapons of mass destruction. Brennan, too, had grappled with formidable challenges: the unending civil war in Syria; the savage reign of the terrorist group ISIS; and the CIA’s escalation of lethal drone warfare. But Brennan’s ultimate test, the one that would define his directorship, was just now gathering critical mass.



Brennan was acutely conscious of his place in history. A few steps above Langley’s soaring marble atrium, with the circular “CIA” insignia on the floor and the iconic Memorial Wall, is a long corridor lined with oil portraits of the CIA’s directors. Although Brennan arrived at work in an armored car through an underground garage—and took a private elevator to his office—he often went out of his way to walk past this gallery of his predecessors.

They’re some of Washington’s most illustrious names: Allen Dulles, John McCone, Richard Helms, James Schlesinger, William Colby, George H. W. Bush, Admiral Stansfield Turner, William Casey, William Webster, Robert Gates, James Woolsey, John Deutch, George Tenet, Porter Goss, General Michael Hayden, Leon Panetta. (The portrait of Panetta’s successor, General David Petraeus, wasn’t yet finished.) Many had served in other powerful government posts: four-star general, FBI director, defense secretary—even president of the United States. But perhaps no job, except for commander in chief, is more consequential—and more politically perilous—than CIA director.

Petraeus, Brennan’s predecessor, had suffered a precipitous fall from grace. The celebrated former commander of the International Security Assistance Force (ISAF) in Afghanistan, and architect of the Iraq War “surge,” Petraeus brought military acumen to the agency, but also a sense of entitlement that one CIA wag called “four-star general disease.” Rumors of Petraeus’s demands for special treatment while traveling became grist for Langley’s gossip mill, and undermined his authority. Barely more than a year had elapsed, during which Petraeus had recovered from that rocky start, when he was caught sharing top secret information with his biographer and lover; within days he’d resigned.

Two directors who arrived on a mission to shake up the CIA—James Schlesinger, for Richard Nixon, and Stansfield Turner, for Jimmy Carter—also crashed and burned. Schlesinger, brilliant but condescending and arrogant, abruptly fired more than one thousand veteran operatives; after five months Nixon moved him to the Pentagon as secretary of defense. Schlesinger was so unpopular at the CIA that he was given extra security guards after a slew of death threats. Turner, a spit-and-polish former Navy admiral, was earnest but too straitlaced for the rough-and-tumble spy business, and no match in the bureaucratic wars for Carter’s wily national security adviser, Zbigniew Brzezinski. Turner would preside over one of history’s greatest intelligence debacles: the CIA’s failure to anticipate the 1979 Iranian revolution.

Another cautionary tale comes from the tenure of John Deutch, Bill Clinton’s director. A former deputy director of defense and MIT chemistry professor, Deutch was a visionary intellectual who helped usher in the era of unmanned drone warfare. Michael Morell, a two-time acting director, considered him the most intelligent person he’d ever met, followed by Barack Obama. But Deutch was politically tone-deaf. He insulted the CIA workforce, saying they weren’t as smart as their Pentagon counterparts. And he assured Clinton that he’d get rid of Saddam Hussein through a CIA-sponsored coup; unfortunately, the covert operation was penetrated by the Iraqis and failed miserably, leaving Kurdish allies abandoned. (And not for the last time; decades later the Kurds in northern Syria would be abandoned again by Donald Trump.) Deutch resigned after seventeen months. Soon thereafter top secret classified material was found on his home computer, and he was stripped of his security clearance.

Other directors were towering figures who transformed the CIA. Allen Dulles, who served Dwight Eisenhower, was a fierce Cold Warrior who ran the agency like a personal fiefdom; to combat the Soviets, he launched audacious covert operations that toppled governments in Iran and Guatemala. William Colby, who’d fought behind enemy lines as a young paratrooper for the Office of Strategic Services (OSS), the CIA’s precursor, during World War II, made public the agency’s darkest secrets—the so-called Family Jewels. In so doing he earned the enmity of the CIA’s secretive old guard, but the respect of those who valued his transparency, and arguably saved the agency. Colby’s death by drowning in 1996—at the age of seventy-six—while canoeing near his weekend house in Maryland, still strikes some of his colleagues as suspicious.

When George H. W. Bush, with no intelligence experience but with a stint as envoy to the People’s Republic of China, became director, he was convinced it was the end of his political career. But Bush rescued the agency from scandal, restored its morale and reputation, and set the stage for his eventual presidency.

Few directors wielded more power than William Casey, who was empowered by Ronald Reagan to fight communism around the globe. A disheveled character who careened around CIA headquarters, mumbling unintelligibly, Casey waged covert wars against the Soviets and their proxies; on his watch, the mujahideen, armed with Stinger missiles by the CIA, turned the tide against the Soviet Red Army in Afghanistan. But later, in a bid to free American hostages in Lebanon, Casey spearheaded a harebrained plot to trade arms to Iran and illegally divert profits to the Central American guerrillas known as the contras. At the height of that scandal, Casey died of a brain tumor; he was so famously devious that one senator, unconvinced, asked to see the body as proof.

No one knew more about the CIA than Robert Gates, a suffer-no-fools analyst who rose through the ranks to become director under President George H. W. Bush. On his first bid for the top job, Gates withdrew his nomination after fierce criticism of his role in the Iran-contra scandal. He succeeded on his second attempt a few years later, though he was accused of exaggerating Soviet military capabilities, a charge he denied. As director, Gates helped President George H. W. Bush navigate the dangerous shoals of the post–Cold War world after the Soviets’ collapse.

The most popular directors of the modern era were George Tenet and Leon Panetta. Charismatic, energetic, and down-to-earth, Tenet warned George W. Bush’s White House of an imminent Al Qaeda attack in the summer of 2001, months before 9/11, a warning that went unheeded by the Bush administration. He also launched the CIA’s lightning invasion of Afghanistan, routing the Taliban. But Tenet’s promising directorship, the second-longest in history, would be marred by the controversy over enhanced interrogation techniques. And his most infamous mistake, which was sure to end up in the first paragraph of his obituary, was assuring Bush that the case for Saddam Hussein’s weapons of mass destruction was a “slam dunk.”

Panetta, the ex-congressman and White House chief of staff who served as President Obama’s first CIA director, combined a common touch at Langley with political finesse in the corridors of power; no one was better at managing the president, bureaucracy, and Congress. He turned the page on the scandals of the Bush era while inspiring devotion among the agency’s rank and file. Panetta’s finest hour was helping to convince Obama, on uncertain circumstantial evidence, to launch the CIA-led mission that resulted in the death of Osama bin Laden.

Michael Hayden, an Air Force general (the only person to head both the CIA and National Security Agency), steadied the agency after the crisis over EITs, lifting its battered spirits. An eloquent defender of the CIA in public, Hayden secretly gave the go-ahead to one of the most audacious covert operations in CIA history, an operation still shrouded in secrecy: a joint CIA-Mossad mission to assassinate the infamous Hezbollah terrorist Imad Mughniyah. So elusive that he was called the “Scarlet Pimpernel” of terrorism, Mughniyah had been the agency’s most wanted man for a quarter century. He was regarded as even more dangerous than his Iranian comrade-in-arms, General Qassim Suleimani, who would be killed in a drone strike ordered by Donald Trump in January 2020. In the late 1990s, under Bill Clinton, the CIA was poised to kidnap Mughniyah in Beirut, but the operation fell apart at the last minute. The story of that operation will be reported here for the first time.

Mike Pompeo, an ambitious former congressman and Tea Party member from Kansas, forged a close relationship with President Trump, thereby giving the CIA access to the forty-fifth president. But Pompeo’s slavish loyalty to Trump would tarnish him, and he couldn’t defuse the president’s visceral hatred of the intelligence community. Pompeo’s successor, Gina Haspel, the first woman to become CIA director, stayed out of harm’s way by keeping a low profile and tending to affairs at Langley. But on her watch a CIA whistleblower would plunge her into the middle of a scandal involving Ukraine and Trump that would trigger his impeachment.

All these directors, for better or worse, have shaped history. When the commander in chief confronts a crisis, the CIA director serves as his eyes and ears, providing the intelligence upon which decisions are made. The stakes range from starting unnecessary wars to averting Armageddon. During the Cuban Missile Crisis, Director John McCone ultimately advised JFK against an invasion that almost surely would have triggered a nuclear catastrophe. McCone was armed not only with U-2 aerial surveillance photos but also purloined Russian missile manuals, courtesy of a Soviet spy. Conversely, Director George Tenet provided George W. Bush with a faulty estimate of Saddam’s weapons of mass destruction, helping to spur the invasion of Iraq in 2003. The consequences of decisions framed by CIA directors could scarcely be more fateful. “An intelligence failure like the one on WMDs changes history,” said Bob Gates, the former director.

This book is about the men—and, currently, the woman—who have led the world’s most powerful and storied intelligence agency. It’s not a formal history of the CIA but rather a look at how its directors have helped shape a half century of world events, and how they’ll affect the future. I’ve interviewed nearly every living director, and many of their colleagues, but the judgments are, of course, mine, not theirs.

By this book’s finish I hope to have answered the following questions: Who succeeds and fails as CIA director? What is the proper relationship between the director and the president? What is the CIA’s mission? Is the world’s most powerful intelligence agency a force for good or evil in the world?

The notion that the CIA has bungled its way through the last fifty years—missing real threats and ginning up false evidence for fake ones—is a common belief. It’s a version of history culminating in the agency’s botched estimate of Iraq’s WMDs. And Iraq has hardly been the agency’s only debacle. The CIA has had its share of intelligence failures—from missing Iran’s 1979 revolution to misjudging Russia’s social media assault on the 2016 U.S. presidential election.

But that is a skewed version of history. The CIA has succeeded in disrupting terrorist plots and saving lives. It has also sounded alarms that politicians chose not to hear. Contrary to conventional wisdom, in the months before 9/11, though it could not specify the target, the agency repeatedly warned of an imminent attack by Al Qaeda; it was the Bush White House, not the CIA, that was asleep at the switch. More than an intelligence failure, the 9/11 attacks represented a dereliction of duty by policymakers. As Director Helms observed, “It’s not enough to ring the bell; you have to make sure the other guy hears it.”

But how much are CIA directors swayed by political pressure? The official myth is that they gather intelligence and call it as they see it, regardless of who occupies the Oval Office. And yet the CIA reports to the president. So as the writer Thomas Powers has noted, if you know what the CIA is doing you know what the president wants; and if you know what the president wants you know what the CIA is doing.

What’s wrong with this? Nothing—except that presidents sometimes try to get the CIA to go along with dubious or downright dangerous ventures: to create false reasons to go to war, as George W. Bush did before the Iraq invasion; to do in secret what they can’t do in public, as Ronald Reagan did when he traded arms to Iran for hostages; and to save their own skin, as Richard Nixon did during Watergate and Donald Trump did when he repeatedly obstructed the investigation into his alleged collusion with Russia. At such times the CIA isn’t an imagined deep state trying to bring down the president; it’s the thin line between the president and a potentially disastrous outcome for America’s citizens. That’s why congressional oversight is essential to ensure that the CIA isn’t misused.

Sometimes what the president wants is so clearly illegal or inappropriate that the CIA director must draw the line. But nothing is guaranteed. Richard Helms defied an illegal order to obstruct justice in the Watergate scandal and thereby upheld the rule of law and saved the CIA. Bill Casey, on the other hand, broke the law in the Iran-contra scandal and almost destroyed the Reagan presidency and the CIA. It’s easy to say that the CIA director should defy improper presidential orders and speak truth to power. But by what authority does he or she do so? Helms refused to cover up Watergate for Nixon. But he was willing to bend the law on domestic surveillance for Lyndon Johnson. How much does a director’s personality, or character, have to do with it?

This book will examine those questions. In January of 2020, a complaint brought by a CIA whistleblower resulted in a Senate trial of Donald Trump for high crimes and misdemeanors. It is up to CIA director Haspel—and the acting Director of National Intelligence, her nominal superior—to protect that whistleblower from reprisal. And it’s up to Congress to strengthen the whistleblower statute so that future complaints aren’t bottled up in the White House or Department of Justice.

How outspoken should directors be? John Brennan has publicly questioned the loyalty of Donald Trump, who once compared the behavior of the intelligence community to that of “Nazi Germany.” Many of Brennan’s fellow directors, who believe that ex-intelligence officials should not criticize sitting presidents, think Brennan’s criticism has been out of bounds. It’s hard to imagine Helms calling a president’s behavior “treasonous,” as Brennan did after Trump’s 2018 summit with Putin in Helsinki. But Helms would have been appalled by Trump’s venomous attacks on the intelligence community, and his refusal to accept its findings of fact—from global warming to the Russian assault on the 2016 U.S. presidential election.

This book is also a look at the challenges facing the U.S. and its allies in the years ahead. What are the threats that keep the directors up at night? What new forms will terrorism take? Should the CIA devote more of its time and resources to detecting emerging pandemics?



Astonishingly, the United States had no intelligence service prior to World War II. The U.S. got into the spying business two and a half millennia after China, and Sun Tzu’s The Art of War. Founded in 1947 to prevent a repetition of the attack on Pearl Harbor, the CIA mostly met that challenge during the Cold War: It was never blindsided by a Soviet attack, or surprised by a military advance that altered the balance of power. But at moments of crisis the CIA has been caught flat-footed: Why was it surprised by the Soviet Union’s collapse? How did it miss the Arab Spring? Was the agency late to recognize the peril of the Russian social media threat?

Too often the CIA has been stunningly ignorant about America’s adversaries. “As a country we just don’t have good intelligence,” said Stuart Eizenstat, former domestic policy adviser to Jimmy Carter. In 1979, the CIA couldn’t conceive of a theological revolution, much less the Shiite-inspired revolt that toppled the Shah of Iran, the leader the U.S. had helped to install. The overthrow was a seismic shock, triggering a struggle between the West and militant Islam that continues to this day. The agency hasn’t fared much better with Iraq, Syria, or Afghanistan. “Did we understand Iraq?” asked Eizenstat. “If we had, would we have gotten rid of Saddam Hussein? My God, the lives and treasure lost—there and in Afghanistan!”

After the Iranian revolution, Helms, the former director, observed: “We must develop a far deeper knowledge of people’s culture, religion, and politics.… Believe it or not, we are still essentially a provincial nation.” The CIA’s officers are less provincial and more diverse now, but for decades they were all too “white, male, and Yale”—homogenous and conformist. “It wasn’t that they weren’t articulate and they didn’t dress well,” said Leslie Gelb, who spent years dealing with CIA officers as a Defense Department official. “But in terms of the quality of their reports? You wouldn’t believe how bad they were. I knew a lot of these guys. I wouldn’t have hired them.”

The CIA is useless without access to one person: the president of the United States. The director commands an army of analysts, an air force of lethal drones, and a covert paramilitary force that can kill terrorists in any corner of the globe. But if he or she does not have the ear of the president, the whole enterprise is for naught. “The CIA has one protector and one customer, and if you can’t get that relationship right then the agency is screwed,” said Gates. In the age of Trump, that challenge has been more difficult than ever.

How should CIA directors deal with presidents who can’t handle the truth? Trump is uniquely resistant to facts he doesn’t want to hear. But he’s not the first president to dismiss the CIA’s views. During the Vietnam War, Lyndon Johnson demanded evidence that the bombing of North Vietnam was sapping enemy morale. But Helms told him the bombing was having no effect; he even commissioned a study that questioned why the U.S. was fighting in the first place. The director must tell the president hard truths—even when they’re the last thing he wants to hear. LBJ was typically blunt when summing up his attitude toward CIA briefers: “When I was growing up in Texas we had a cow named Bessie. I’d seat myself and squeeze out a fresh pail of milk, but I wasn’t paying attention and old Bessie swung her tail through that bucket of milk. That’s what these intelligence guys do. You work hard and develop a good program and they swing a shit-smeared tail through it.”

The CIA director is the president’s favorite scapegoat. “Victory has a thousand fathers, but defeat is an orphan,” President Kennedy famously said after the disastrous CIA invasion at Cuba’s Bay of Pigs. In fact, while publicly accepting blame, Kennedy privately excoriated the agency and threatened to “scatter it to the winds.” He ended up sacking Director Allen Dulles and demanding that the agency eliminate Cuban dictator Fidel Castro, by fair means or foul. The agency was, of course, used to taking heat. Richard Nixon had blamed the “clowns out at Langley,” for his loss in the 1960 presidential election, convinced the CIA had given ammunition to his opponent, JFK, by telling him that Eisenhower and Nixon had let the Soviets get ahead in missiles. “A president would never abolish the CIA,” says one former director, “because then he would have no one to blame.” It’s an attitude reflected in a common lament at Langley: “There are only policy successes—and intelligence failures.”

And intelligence scandals. The directors have had their share—from the Bay of Pigs to assassination plots on foreign leaders to illegal domestic surveillance to testing drugs on unwitting subjects to overthrowing governments. And yes, meddling in elections: From 1946 to 2001, the CIA pumped propaganda and money into some eighty-one elections, from Western Europe to South America. During the 1970s, congressional investigations flung open a Pandora’s box of CIA abuses.

Yet the CIA has never been a “rogue elephant,” despite lurid headlines. Scandalous or not, virtually every covert operation the agency has carried out was done at the direction of the president of the United States. And those operations that were truly beyond the pale it tried to slow-walk. Helms endured so much hectoring from Bobby Kennedy about the need to “get rid of” Fidel Castro, he complained he had lash marks on his back. Helms ignored the attorney general’s orders as long as he could before delegating the Castro murder plots to subordinates; he thought Operation ZR/RIFLE, with its poisoned cigars and exploding seashells, was absurd and impractical—but he didn’t call it off.

Presidents have often asked directors to break the law. “They were all asked to do things they shouldn’t do,” said Cynthia Helms, widow of the legendary director. Helms reluctantly succumbed to Johnson’s demand that he do something—anything—to find evidence of communist involvement in the anti–Vietnam War movement; so he approved Operation MHCHAOS, a domestic surveillance program that was both illegal and a violation of the CIA’s charter. Helms reasoned that the alternative was getting fired—and that only he could keep the damn thing under wraps. The CIA found no trace of foreign subversion and ultimately MHCHAOS was exposed.

Arguably more harmful than its scandals has been the CIA’s inability to ferret out enemies in its midst: moles. An intelligence agency is useless if it can’t keep secrets from the enemy. And yet for more than a decade Harold Adrian Russell “Kim” Philby, a British intelligence official who was also a Soviet agent, carried on a close friendship with the CIA’s head of counterintelligence, James Angleton. Philby’s betrayals sent dozens of CIA agents to their deaths in the Soviet Union. Angleton—who exemplified the CIA’s tendency to venerate eccentric, Ivy League intellectuals—was obsessed with a so-called Master Plot; critics dubbed it “the Monster Plot.” In his paranoid “wilderness of mirrors,” every Soviet defector was a KGB plant; CIA colleagues were guilty until proven innocent; and many careers were ruined.

Decades later, an agency spy named Aldrich Ames managed, despite certain habits that should have aroused suspicion—among them, driving a flashy Jaguar and a penchant for binge drinking—to feed the Soviets a steady diet of secrets, including the names of CIA agents, many of whom were subsequently arrested and executed. During Barack Obama’s first term, more than a dozen CIA assets in China were compromised; most disappeared. Counterintelligence—the detection of enemy spies—is a perennial CIA weakness that has at times paralyzed the agency. And given the sheer number of people with access to secrets, ferreting out moles may be a futile enterprise. “It’s an actuarial certainty that at almost any given moment the agency has been penetrated,” said the CIA’s chief historian David Robarge.

Yet for all the agency’s flaws, presidents can’t resist the quick fix of CIA covert action. “It was always predictable,” explained Bob Gates. “The State Department would recommend the use of military force. The Defense Department would recommend diplomacy. And when they couldn’t agree, everybody would decide, ‘let CIA do a covert action.’ ” Often that way lies disaster—as in 1970, when Nixon ordered the CIA at the eleventh hour to keep Chile’s leftist Salvador Allende out of power. As a rule, presidents have no grasp on what the CIA can and can’t do. Perhaps the only president who understood the agency’s capabilities was George H. W. Bush, a former director. Another exception, arguably, was Dwight Eisenhower, who knew something about intelligence from his stint as D-Day commander.

The mystique of CIA covert action stems from the storied exploits of William “Wild Bill” Donovan of the OSS, the CIA’s forerunner, who sent spies and saboteurs into action against the Nazis during World War II. Future CIA directors Dulles, Helms, Colby, and Casey cut their teeth as OSS officers. The myth of covert action as a panacea persisted in the postwar period, thanks to two successful operations. A CIA-led coup in 1953 kept the pro-Western Mohammed Reza Shah Pahlavi on the throne in Iran, preserving U.S. and British oil interests. A year later, in Guatemala, a CIA clandestine operation drove the democratically-elected, left-leaning president Jacobo Árbenz from power through a barrage of propaganda and disinformation.

Heartened by these relatively bloodless victories against communism, President Dwight Eisenhower became a believer in the magic bullet of covert action. A few decades later, a ragtag band of Afghan rebels, supplied with Stinger missiles by the CIA, bloodied the Soviet Union’s Red Army and sent it limping out of Afghanistan; it was the most successful covert operation in modern history.

And yet covert operations are much more likely to fail. (The Bay of Pigs, Iran-contra, the anti-Castro Operation MONGOOSE, the revolt against Sukarno in Indonesia, the Kurdish rebellion against Saddam—the list goes on.) Helms warned his successors to beware the seductive allure of clandestine operations; he believed they rarely worked and almost always brought unintended consequences, often referred to as “blowback.” Many “successful” operations have ultimately come back to bite the U.S.—in Guatemala, where the CIA-led coup was followed by decades of bloody dictatorship; in Afghanistan, where the American-allied mujahideen eventually formed the basis of Al Qaeda; and in Iran, where hatred of the Shah inspired the Islamic Revolution of 1979 and a generation of terrorism against the West. What will the fallout be from Trump’s latest covert operations against Iran’s Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC)? That remains to be seen.

For directors, having the ear of the president is one thing; earning the confidence of the workforce is another. Insular and fiercely tribal, Langley’s denizens can devour outsiders “like white blood cells attacking alien tissue,” said one ex-spy. “It’s like Scottish tribes waiting for the English king,” explained Cofer Black, a legendary operative. The CIA is a collection of spies, geeks, scientists, technocrats, lawyers, linguists, fixers, and paramilitary warriors. But it consists mainly of two camps: the analysts, of the Directorate of Intelligence (DI), and the operatives, of the Directorate of Operations (DO). They live in such different worlds and speak such different languages that their working areas were once literally walled off and they ate in separate cafeterias.

Analysts tend to be intellectual and introverted (and often sun-deprived). “What’s the difference between an introverted and an extroverted analyst?” goes a joke at Langley. “An extroverted analyst stares at your shoes.” They master such arcana as the throw weight of nuclear missiles, and are expected to decipher enemy war plans, read the minds of foreign leaders, and predict the future. During a legendary forty-year CIA career, Charles Allen, now eighty-three, served many roles, including the National Intelligence Officer (NIO) for Warning, charged with detecting imminent threats. Renowned as the agency’s “Cassandra,” Allen is still haunted by the prediction that got away: his failure to sound a timely warning of the 1973 Arab-Israeli (Yom Kippur) War. “It still bothers you?” I asked him, sitting in his Washington office in the summer of 2018. “Deeply,” he replied. He sighed. “Awful. It’s deep inside me.”

CIA analysts aren’t perfect and they often pay the price. John McLaughlin, a courtly intellectual who served twice as acting director, is also an accomplished magician; on a visit to Moscow he dazzled his Russian intelligence counterparts with feats of sleight of hand, turning a 10,000 ruble note into 100,000. But when McLaughlin and his fellow analysts botch an intelligence estimate—as with Iraq’s WMDs—their mistakes do not magically vanish. “Analysts write things down, venturing assessment and prediction on issues that are contentious, sometimes unknowable,” he said. “They are hanging out there in words that never go away. Very few others in government do that. No one understands any of this.”

CIA operatives are a different breed; brash and outgoing, they practice deception and seduction, enticing strangers to betray their countries. Breaking the laws of foreign countries is their modus operandi. Members of this tribe are dismissive of the pampered life of analysts. As Cofer Black put it: “It’s like being a weatherman in the Navy. There’s a difference between being a pilot that flies an F-14 off an aircraft carrier in the North Atlantic in the winter with snow blowing across it, and the ship is going up and down—and a guy who runs the Officer’s Club in Idaho. They are not the same.”

Morell, the former acting director, described the ideal characteristics of an “ops guy”—or woman: “incredibly strong interpersonal and emotional intelligence skills. And self-confidence to the point of overconfidence—because asking another human being to commit espionage against their own country is one of the hardest conversations you will ever have.” Successful directors know that analysts and operatives require different care and feeding. “The analysts will do whatever you tell them to do,” said a former senior intelligence official. “If you tell them to walk off a cliff, they’ll walk off a cliff. The ops guys will only do what you ask them to do if they believe that you love them—if you believe that they are as great as they think they are.”

Operating in a world of shadows, CIA directors need a strong moral compass but they can’t be saints. “At CIA you get into moral ambiguities more than you do in other agencies,” said Charlie Allen. “Hard decisions are made. And there are high-risk stakes, particularly as you move into covert action.”

Theodore “Ted” Sorensen, John Kennedy’s former aide and confidant, was Jimmy Carter’s first choice to become director in 1977. But Sorensen withdrew his nomination when it was revealed that he’d been a conscientious objector during World War II. After his defeat, Sorensen seemed conflicted—bitter and simultaneously relieved. “Now you won’t have to do those things you didn’t want to do,” his twelve-year-old son told him.

Years later, Sorensen reflected: “Could I, as a lawyer, oversee employees constantly breaking the laws of other nations? Could I, as a moralist, direct operations widely condemned as immoral? With my insistence on candor and truthfulness, could I head the most secretive and deceptive agency in government?” For Sorensen, who was averse to covert operations, the answer was no. “Clandestine operations and covert intelligence are a critical and essential part of intelligence gathering,” said Jack Watson, Carter’s transition director and later his White House chief of staff. “I’m not suggesting that you abandon the values of the nation or ignore moral considerations. But if you’re going to be in that world, as I think you have to be as director, then you can’t be too pure.”

For CIA directors, ethical issues abound. Obvious transgressions—assassination plots, coups against elected governments, harsh interrogation techniques, domestic surveillance—are now constrained by law and congressional oversight. Yet the goalposts for what’s acceptable keep moving, depending on who’s in power and the vicissitudes of national security threats. “CIA directors and deputies make some of the toughest decisions in government,” said McLaughlin. “Operators are authorized to play near the edge of the law, knowing the view of the law may change with the next election. Intelligence law is frontier law—with few cases and few settled precedents.”

Indeed, Leon Panetta was shocked to discover that he faced life-and-death decisions as director every day. When it came to authorizing lethal drone strikes—when innocent civilians were in the crosshairs—the devoutly Catholic director lamented: “You have to be true to yourself—and just hope that ultimately God agrees with you.” In the aftermath of 9/11, when prisoners were subjected to enhanced interrogation techniques, Director Tenet and his defenders insisted the methods prevented attacks and saved innocent lives. But McLaughlin, one of those defenders, concedes, “There’s an answer to that, which is: Slavery worked too but it was still wrong.”



In the late summer of 2016, John Brennan faced his own dilemma. Confronted with an imminent Russian threat against American democracy, what should he do?

In the months before the election, the options were unappealing: Should the U.S. strike back at Moscow, “rattling its cages” with a cyber offensive that might bring its economy to its knees? That would risk retaliation that could spiral out of control. Should the U.S. release embarrassing information about Putin and his oligarchs? That would be stooping to their level. The Russian threat was “orders of magnitude more complicated than counterterrorism or weapons of mass destruction,” said Brennan, “because it is dealing with this ubiquitous digital domain.”

And then there was an equally sensitive question: how to respond to Donald Trump. As CIA director, Brennan was almost obsessively apolitical, determined to be Obama’s honest broker, a stickler for process. But underneath that dispassionate exterior, he was a moralist, an “Irish cop,” as political strategist David Axelrod dubbed him. Every time Trump said something reckless (for example: “I would bring back waterboarding,… and a hell of a lot worse”) the Irish in Brennan would rise up; he considered the Republican nominee a con man and a fraud. “That’s where you see his anger and frustration,” said a close friend. “John just can’t fathom someone with no moral compass or ethics as president of the United States.”

Beyond his personal feelings, Brennan was convinced that Trump posed a threat to American interests. The Republican nominee was a “useful idiot,” Brennan believed, unwittingly serving Moscow’s purposes. How else to explain the sudden change in the Republican Party platform, in favor of disarming Ukraine? What about Trump’s gushing admiration for the Russian leader, and his contempt for NATO and American alliances?

Putin’s meddling on behalf of Trump was a matter of urgent public interest. But Obama, ever cautious, was loath to speak out; in the hyper-partisan climate of 2016, any presidential statement would cause a firestorm, fueling Trump’s cynical narrative that the election was rigged. And there was another factor that weighed on Brennan and Obama: No one imagined that the Republican nominee had a real chance of winning.

So as the election approached, Obama held his fire in public. In private, he and his advisers tried to get Republican congressional leaders to join in a warning about Russian election interference. They failed, and the backroom wrangling was partisan and ugly. “It’s the hardest thing about my entire time in government to defend,” said one adviser. “I feel like we choked.”

John Brennan’s anger only deepened when, on January 20, 2017, Donald J. Trump took the oath of office as president of the United States.

Brennan was not alone in his alarm. A few months after the election, a retired agency operative, with decades of experience in the Near East Division, paid a visit to Gina Haspel at CIA headquarters. Haspel had risen through the ranks of the Directorate of Operations and was now deputy to CIA director Mike Pompeo.

The veteran spy sipped coffee outside Haspel’s office—and thought about how to broach his subject: What if, on Haspel’s watch, the CIA learned that Trump was involved in wrongdoing?

Finally, Haspel waved him into her office. They exchanged pleasantries, and then her visitor got to his point. “You gotta think, Gina,” he told her. “You’ve got this Russian thing going on—and you could have a moment when information arrives from a source that you might ordinarily share with the president. But to do so would be illegal—because it’s law enforcement intelligence.” He underscored the point to make sure she got it. “It needs to go somewhere else. Not to the White House.”

Haspel listened intently. Just then the door opened and Director Pompeo walked in. The veteran spy stood up and introduced himself. Then he said his goodbyes, and departed.



In September 2019, the CIA’s general counsel, Courtney Elwood, received an urgent message: A CIA officer had important information from a colleague, a whistleblower who wished to remain anonymous. The information involved a troubling conversation between Trump and the president of Ukraine. This was almost exactly what the veteran CIA operative had tried to warn Haspel about. It would not be long before Donald Trump accused the whistleblower of treason.

It was not the first time a president had declared war on the CIA. Back in 1972, convinced that its spies were out to get him, Richard Nixon tried to blackmail the agency, hoping to obstruct the investigation into Watergate. He hadn’t bargained on running up against a director named Richard Helms.






CHAPTER ONE “Stay the hell away from the whole damned thing.”


Richard Helms, Lyndon Johnson, and Richard Nixon

At his transition headquarters on the thirty-ninth floor of New York City’s Pierre Hotel, in a suite with a panoramic view of Central Park, Richard M. Nixon was preparing to become president of the United States. It was Friday, November 15, 1968, and Nixon had been huddling with his closest advisers, meeting with candidates for his cabinet, plotting to bend the Washington establishment to his will. The president-elect was “in the mood of a general about to occupy an enemy town,” wrote author Thomas Powers, “bringing with him a visceral dislike and suspicion of the federal bureaucracy… because it was in his character to see himself always as surrounded by enemies, obstructionists and saboteurs.” Oddly enough, in Nixon’s mind, no one exemplified the Washington elite—those enemies, obstructionists, and saboteurs—more than the man he’d summoned to meet with him, CIA director Richard Helms.

It would be hard to imagine a partnership less likely to end well, more riven with intrigue and mutual suspicion, than Helms and Nixon. Helms personified the CIA, rising through the ranks of the agency to become Lyndon Johnson’s director for the previous two years. Nixon was still seething about the CIA’s role in his 1960 election loss, convinced the agency had helped JFK invent a Soviet-American “missile gap.” He wasn’t about to let Helms forget it. Worse, in Nixon’s mind, Helms was a member of the “Georgetown set,” a tony cabal that spent its evenings sipping martinis and making fun of the president-elect. (Helms did frequent the living rooms of Washington’s high-society doyennes, but he was quick to point out that he’d never lived in Georgetown.)

In their manner and dress the two men were polar opposites. Helms wore Savile Row suits with kerchiefs and was an avid tennis player and ballroom dancer. (Born with nine toes, Helms had shoes specially designed for him in London when he lived there in the 1930s.) Nixon was fumbling and socially inept, and so sartorially clueless he wore dress shoes while walking on the beach.

Helms arrived at the hotel and was shown into Nixon’s suite. He was greeted there by the president-elect and John Mitchell. Jowly and overweight, Mitchell, who’d been Nixon’s law partner and was most recently serving as the president-elect’s confidant, was about to become attorney general—and would later go to prison for his role in the Watergate scandal. After some pleasantries, the president-elect told Helms he wanted him to stay on as CIA director. Helms thanked him and left, promising not to tell anyone until the decision was made public. A month later, on December 18, 1968, Richard Nixon announced Helms’s reappointment as director of Central Intelligence.

Nixon must have had his reasons. Possibly, he’d been swayed by LBJ’s urging him to keep Helms around as an honest broker. “I’ve no idea how he voted in any election and I have never asked him what his political views are,” Johnson told the president-elect. “He’s always been correct with me and has done a good job as director. I commend him to you.” But beyond Helms’s bona fides, other considerations were undoubtedly at work in Nixon’s conspiratorial mind. It was a mind that Helms could never fathom. “He couldn’t figure out Nixon,” recalled his widow, and second wife, Cynthia Helms. “He just could never figure out what Nixon was up to.” What Nixon was up to, it does not seem far-fetched to conclude, was choosing a CIA director who could be blackmailed into doing his bidding.

Surely, anyone who’d been in the spy business as long as Helms must have something to hide, must be malleable, or vulnerable to exposure. “We protected Helms from one hell of a lot of things,” Nixon would say later, as the White House tapes rolled, implying that he’d kept damaging information from coming to light, that Helms owed him, and it was time to collect the debt. Did Nixon and his henchmen have something on Helms, a secret that would make him do their dirty work on Watergate? The fate of Nixon’s presidency would hinge on the answer to that question.



Richard Helms hadn’t set out to become a spy. Born on Philadelphia’s Main Line, he was sent to a Swiss boarding school and then attended college at Williams. In 1936, as a twenty-three-year-old reporter for United Press, speaking passable French and German, Helms found himself at the Nazi Party Congress in Nuremberg, standing next to the German führer, Adolf Hitler. “At arm’s length, Hitler appeared shorter and less impressive than at a distance,” Helms reported in his UP dispatch. “Fine, dark brown hair, rusty in front, slightly graying along the crown; bright blue eyes, coarse skin, with a pinkish tinge.” Helms was appalled by Hitler’s demagogic narcissism. By contrast he was impressed by the quiet modesty of American track star Jesse Owens, whom he met while crossing the Atlantic on the Queen Mary after his dominant performance at the Olympic Games.

After Pearl Harbor, Helms joined the Naval Reserve. Then, two years before the Nazi surrender, he was summoned to the Office of Strategic Services (OSS) in Washington, D.C. The wartime intelligence service, precursor to the CIA, wanted someone who spoke French and German, had lived in Europe, and worked as a journalist.

The OSS was the creation of William “Wild Bill” Donovan, a dashing figure who led an eclectic band of intellectuals and paramilitary adventurers, running spies and saboteurs behind Nazi lines from its headquarters in London. Helms was sent to Maryland for training (knife fighting, hand-to-hand combat, maintaining a cover)—and finally dispatched to London. There, he reported to a rumpled Navy lieutenant named William J. Casey, the chief for secret intelligence collection in Europe.

Restless, indefatigable, and brilliant, Casey, who would later become Ronald Reagan’s CIA director, was as rough around the edges as Helms was silky smooth; he was so excitable during meals, and his table manners such an afterthought, that he often ended up chewing on his tie. The two young OSS recruits became roommates and sent spies into occupied Europe right up until the Nazi surrender.

By 1943 Helms had given up his journalistic ambitions (he’d wanted to own a newspaper) in favor of a career as a spy. “I now realized that I was hooked on intelligence,” Helms wrote years later in his memoir, A Look over My Shoulder. And he intuited that the OSS, or something like it, would still be necessary after the war: “The need for an effective intelligence service in the turbulent and anything but benign postwar world seemed obvious.” But Helms wasn’t done with Hitler yet. At war’s end, as the Third Reich lay in ruins, while he was on a reconnaissance mission in Berlin, Helms seized a chance to sneak into Hitler’s chancellery. He helped himself to the few pieces of crockery that hadn’t been shattered—and Hitler’s personal note cards. On one, Helms penned a note to his toddler son, back in Virginia.


Dear Dennis,

The man who might have written on this card once controlled Europe—three short years ago when you were born. Today he is dead, his memory despised, his country in ruins. He had a thirst for power, a low opinion of man as an individual, and a fear of intellectual honesty. He was a force for evil in the world. His passing, his defeat—a boon to mankind. Thousands died that it might be so. The price for ridding society of bad is always high.

Love,

Daddy



By then both Helms and Casey were focused on a new force for evil, one they considered as threatening as the Third Reich. The struggle against Soviet communism, starting in Eastern Europe and extending across the globe, would shape the ethical choices they made while working for, and later running, the CIA. They believed the morality of their methods shouldn’t be judged in a vacuum, but against those of the KGB. (Helms disliked John le Carré’s classic novel The Spy Who Came in from the Cold, with its gray compromises and cynical, world-weary protagonist.) Helms’s world was black-and-white: The CIA’s spies were honorable men in a fight against evil.

It was while they were in London that Casey told Helms about an idea hatched by Bill Donovan: the creation of a peacetime intelligence service that would be assembled from the remnants of the OSS. Upon the disbanding of OSS in 1945, several halfhearted iterations were tried—the Strategic Services Unit (SSU), the Office of Special Operations (OSO), and the Central Intelligence Group (CIG). Then, in 1947, the Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) was born, created by President Harry Truman’s National Security Act.

The first Director of Central Intelligence (DCI) was appointed two years earlier. Rear Admiral Sidney Souers became the first man to hold the title; to commemorate the occasion, Truman threw a lunch—and presented each guest with a black cloak, black hat, and wooden dagger. Souers was the first of four mostly forgettable CIA directors plucked from the military; he was followed in rapid succession by Army Lieutenant General Hoyt Vandenberg, Navy Admiral Roscoe Hillenkoetter, and Army General Walter Bedell Smith. Then, in February 1953, Eisenhower appointed the first civilian CIA director, Allen Dulles.

For the next eight years, allied with his influential brother, Secretary of State John Foster Dulles, Allen Dulles transformed the CIA into a powerful cudgel against communism, overthrowing governments in Iran and Guatemala, and serving as Ike’s covert army general in the Cold War struggle.

Present at the creation, Helms would be at the center of the CIA for the next three decades, privy to its secrets, triumphs, and disasters. It was a time when the agency largely did what it wanted and Congress looked the other way. When it was time to renew the CIA’s budget, the director would pay a visit to Senator Richard Russell, chairman of the Appropriations and Armed Services Committees. As one veteran operative recalled: “Russell would say, ‘How much do you need?’ [The director] would say, ‘Well, here’s my number.’ And Russell would say, ‘Well, how about this number?’ And that was it.” It was accepted that spies were mysterious figures who moved in the shadows. All of this would change soon enough.

Few were better than Helms at navigating the corridors of power in Washington, D.C. “He understood how to operate at the policy level as bravely and as ably as anybody I’ve ever seen,” said veteran CIA analyst Charles Allen. An agency legend who joined the CIA in 1958, Allen would become the National Intelligence Officer (NIO) for Warning, and later the Assistant Director for Collection (ADCI). (This is probably a good place to explain some CIA terminology: “Agents” or “assets” are by definition foreigners who are recruited overseas to spy for the agency; CIA employees, by contrast, are called “officers.” Officers in turn may be “operatives” or “analysts,” depending on the division they belong to.) Allen had never seen anyone with a better survival instinct than Helms. During his steady rise through the Directorate of Plans (DP), as the covert operations division was then called, the paperwork for most clandestine missions crossed his desk, but Helms avoided blame for operations that went sour. “Ducky Dickie,” he was called, for his ability to evade responsibility for ill-fated ventures; like a good covert operative, Helms seldom left fingerprints behind.

Operation ZAPATA, the CIA debacle that came to be known as the Bay of Pigs, was a classic example of Helms’s dodging a bullet that might have ended his career. He was aided by a fortuitous turn of events. In 1958 Helms was the odds-on favorite to be named Deputy Director of Plans (DDP). (This was the CIA’s covert arm, later renamed the Directorate of Operations, or DO.) But Helms was passed over by Director Allen Dulles in favor of Richard Bissell. Bissell, a brilliant technocrat, had spearheaded the groundbreaking development of the U-2 surveillance plane. His promotion was a shattering blow to Helms, but it would turn out to be a blessing in disguise—because it would fall to Bissell, as DDP, to plan the ill-fated invasion that would become the CIA’s worst disaster. Sensing a fiasco-in-the-making, Helms, instead of warning against the operation, made sure that he wasn’t in the loop. An office betting pool was started: How long would it take Helms to attend a planning meeting for the Cuba invasion? He never attended a session.

Helms kept a low profile. He drove old, conservative black cars that wouldn’t be noticed. Not even his son knew what he did for a living. “There is nobody who was more artful at dodging questions than my father,” said Dennis Helms, now seventy-seven, a patent attorney in Princeton, New Jersey. “If you asked him the time, he’d give you the weather. He was guided by the principle that if you don’t say anything, then you can’t say anything wrong.” The stories of Helms’s laconic nature are legion. His second wife, Cynthia, recalled that on the eve of their marriage in 1968 she got a phone call from Alice Acheson, wife of former secretary of state Dean Acheson. “She said, ‘You can’t possibly marry him!’ And I said, ‘Why not?’ And she said, ‘He doesn’t talk!’ ”

Despite being the soul of discretion, Helms moved effortlessly from watering holes to embassies to the living rooms of high-society hostesses like Katharine Graham, The Washington Post’s publisher. “He was almost a James Bondian figure,” said Robert Gates, a young CIA analyst who would later become director. “In those days people still smoked. He was a smoker and he drank martinis; he was very suave and clearly was a player in town.” Helms smoked two packs of Chesterfields a day but limited himself to a single, very dry martini. Washington’s literati, among them James “Scotty” Reston of The New York Times and columnist Stewart Alsop, gathered round when the spymaster worked the room, martini in hand. “Run it by Dick,” a New York Times editor once told his star investigative reporter, Seymour Hersh (to Hersh’s dismay). But Helms seldom stayed long at the party. “He knew exactly where the exit was in every embassy in Washington,” said Cynthia.

At his modest suburban house in Chevy Chase, Maryland, Helms threw his own parties: eclectic gatherings of spies, professors, journalists, and diplomats (but rarely politicians). “They used to come on New Year’s Eve, a lot of the old guys in black tie, and we’d play charades,” recalled Dennis, referring to the parlor game in which contestants acted out well-known phrases which the other team tried to guess. “Dad’s friends were a pretty smart crowd: two Williams College presidents, all kinds of people from Yale.”

One regular at these affairs was a CIA legend, a lean, angular, bespectacled Yale grad with a mischievous grin and a mysterious manner. A chain-smoker, he bred rare orchids and designed elaborate fishing flies. At Yale he’d published a literary magazine and befriended the poet Ezra Pound. The phrase he chose for charades, recalls Dennis, was from T. S. Eliot: “garlic and sapphires in the mud, clot the bedded axle-tree.” “So needless to say nobody guessed that, and my mother said, ‘Time out!’ ” The man she banned from future charades games was the CIA’s head of counterintelligence, James Jesus Angleton.

Angleton would cause Helms and the CIA no end of grief in the postwar years. But in the immediate aftermath of the Bay of Pigs, Helms had more pressing problems. For his role in the debacle, Director Allen Dulles had been sacked by Kennedy, who appointed John McCone in his stead; Bissell was gone, too. But there’d still be hell to pay because the attorney general, Bobby Kennedy, was furious, out to avenge the president for his embarrassing humiliation at the hands of his generals and spies. “After the Bay of Pigs, Bobby Kennedy became obsessed, which means Jack Kennedy became obsessed, with killing Castro,” said Burton Gerber, an operative who served in the Middle East and Russia. The marching orders, for Helms and his colleagues, were to get rid of Fidel Castro—immediately, by any means necessary.

This was not a new command. The CIA’s murder plots against Castro had begun under Dwight Eisenhower. The schemes had been delegated to the CIA Security Staff, a shadowy division for off-the-radar operations, and a colorful character named William Harvey. Harvey, a rotund ex-FBI agent who’d had a falling-out with Director J. Edgar Hoover, was a bullheaded operative who seldom let rules interfere with a mission; Harvey almost always carried a loaded pistol in his belt. While stationed in Germany, he’d run an ambitious covert operation: Workers burrowed a tunnel under the Berlin Wall, tapping into Soviet cables; unfortunately, the operation was compromised by a Russian mole. At one point Harvey was taken to the Oval Office to meet John Kennedy, who loved pulp spy novels. “They tell me you’re the closest thing we have to James Bond,” quipped the president.

Not that close, in Helms’s opinion. Anyone who thought so “had either never read Ian Fleming’s books, seen a Bond movie, or caught a glimpse of Harvey… who would never win the battle with his waistline.” Harvey was also “deliberately blunt and loudly outspoken, qualities that, with his heavy drinking, were eventually to catch up to him.” In short, the CIA had chosen a gun-toting, hair-triggered loudmouth with a heavy drinking habit to carry out the assassination of a foreign leader. What could possibly go wrong?

Harvey pursued an out-of-the-box idea: Why not reach out to people who did this kind of thing for a living—the Mafia mob boss Sam Giancana and his lieutenant Johnny Roselli? (Giancana’s mistress Judith Exner was having an affair with JFK, though Harvey was probably unaware of this.) Would the mobsters be interested in teaming up with the CIA to knock off Fidel Castro? No gadgets were too outlandish for ZR/RIFLE, as Harvey’s project was called, including poisoned cigars, deadly scuba diving gear, and exploding seashells. (Most of these never got beyond the CIA laboratory.) Roselli managed to have a jar of poison pills smuggled into Havana. But in the end, ZR/RIFLE was a case of life imitating farce, a Peter Sellers and Monty Python movie rolled into one: No would-be assassin got anywhere near Castro.

Helms insisted he knew nothing about ZR/RIFLE until he replaced Bissell as DDP in 1962. “After checking into it I told Bill Harvey—who agreed entirely—to close it down,” he wrote later. But the evidence suggests that Helms approved Harvey’s project and kept it secret from those who didn’t need to know. That was the way assassination plots were handled in the agency’s early days; presidents—and even CIA directors—maintained plausible deniability. Helms evidently kept his boss, Director John McCone, out of the loop. McCone, a devout Catholic, professed to be appalled when he learned about the Castro plots years later.

“There is no easy answer to the question of assassination,” Helms would write later. “Clearly, boundless misery would have been avoided if Hitler had been struck down.… That said, in peacetime the assassination of troublesome persons is morally and operationally indefensible.” But though the Mafia hit men were now gone, the pressure on Helms to “get rid of Castro” only intensified. Bobby Kennedy was relentless. “[Robert] Kennedy wanting Mr. Castro killed was a huge issue,” recalled Cynthia Helms, who got an earful about it years later from her husband. “Robert Kennedy was out at the agency and he was obsessed by it. Dick said, ‘you can’t see the lashes on my back but they are there.’ ”

Bobby Kennedy never stopped demanding that the CIA eliminate Castro. Helms would nod dutifully, and then go about his business of trying to topple the Cuban government by other means. It wasn’t the first or last time that Helms, faced with an arguably illegal order, would pretend to go along while dragging his heels. “When people wanted to invade Cuba or kill Castro, his attitude was, ‘Oh, God,’ ” said Thomas Powers, author of the Helms biography, The Man Who Kept the Secrets. “He just was so against it all,” said Cynthia of the plots to kill Castro. “He said to me one day, ‘I was never going to do it. We were never going to do it.’ But they made his life miserable over it.”

ZR/RIFLE was part of Operation MONGOOSE (so named by presidential assistant Richard Goodwin). Its objective was to overthrow Castro—through sabotage, propaganda, and efforts to spark an insurrection. The operation involved six hundred CIA personnel and five hundred contract personnel, as well as elite counterinsurgency experts General Maxwell Taylor and Edward Lansdale. “The Kennedys were enchanted by those guys,” said Frank Wisner Jr., son and namesake of a legendary Helms CIA colleague. “The Green Berets, John Wayne: ‘Send in a few good men.’ The music plays in the background, the natives are rallied and deal with the hated communists.” But it was mostly a show by Helms; he knew the enterprise was a fool’s errand. MONGOOSE only confirmed Helms’s skepticism toward presidents (and attorneys general) who were clueless about the CIA’s capabilities.

It also clinched Helms’s belief that covert operations were a dangerous gamble. It wasn’t just the “perfect failure” of the Bay of Pigs. In Helms’s view, even the successful CIA coups in Iran and Guatemala—AJAX and PBSUCCESS, respectively—had been flukes, unique situations: they’d depended on ideal circumstances, and on everything going right. “Most of the best clandestine service officers that I’ve ever known thought that way,” said Bob Gates. “I’m not sure that any careers got destroyed by a failure on the espionage side, but many were destroyed by covert action.” Covert action, Helms wrote, should not be “wielded about like an all-purpose chainsaw. It should be used like a well-honed scalpel, infrequently, and with discretion lest the blade lose its edge.”



In 1962 the CIA would find out if it was equal to the ultimate challenge: averting Armageddon. The CIA’s new director, John McCone, in Helms’s opinion, was “exactly the right man” to replace Dulles. A rich conservative who’d run the Atomic Energy Commission, McCone was intelligent and aggressive, not afraid to give the president his unvarnished advice. In the late summer of 1962, JFK would need it. Something strange was going on in Cuba: Eight Soviet ships had docked there; thousands of Russian military specialists were on the island; and a CIA-run U-2 flight showed a Soviet construction site with two surface-to-air (SAM) missiles protecting it.

The foreign policy establishment was unanimous: Soviet premier Nikita Khrushchev wouldn’t risk installing offensive nuclear missiles so close to Florida. Such a move would be rash, provocative; it could start World War III. But McCone, alone in the administration, was convinced the Soviets were doing just that. From the south of France, honeymooning with his second wife, he pressed his case with the president. U-2 photos showed that McCone’s hunch was right. In the end, armed with eyewitness accounts from the island and stolen manuals of Russian intercontinental missiles (provided by a Soviet defector named Oleg Penkovsky), McCone gave Kennedy a decisive edge in his showdown with Khrushchev. The CIA helped to avert a nuclear war.



On November 22, 1963, Helms was having lunch with McCone in a small room adjoining the director’s office when the door flew open: An aide burst in with news that President Kennedy had been shot in Dallas. McCone grabbed his hat and raced to meet Bobby Kennedy at his home in nearby Hickory Hill, Virginia. Helms headed to his office to hold down the fort.

Helms later wrote, “I have not seen anything, no matter how far-fetched or grossly imagined, that in any way changes my conviction that Lee Harvey Oswald assassinated Kennedy, and that there were no co-conspirators.” But Helms was being disingenuous. The truth is, he was deeply concerned that Oswald might have been sent to kill Kennedy by a foreign power.

The Kennedys had tried mightily to have Castro killed. Did Castro get Kennedy first? “Dick thought, and I don’t think I’m exaggerating,” said Cynthia, “that Robert Kennedy suffered from guilt after Kennedy was assassinated, from this relationship with the Castro murder plots. Because Bobby never quite knew… he never quite knew how the thing had played out.” If Bobby Kennedy felt guilty about the Castro plots, it might explain why the first question he asked McCone at Hickory Hill was whether Castro was involved in JFK’s assassination. McCone told him the CIA had no evidence of that.

Helms dismissed the idea of a Cuba-Oswald plot as a figment of conspiratorial imaginations, the tinfoil hat brigade. But Russia was another story. “A much better case can be made that Oswald was put up to it by the Russians,” Helms told a CIA historian, without elaboration. Helms, it seems, was worried about Moscow’s possible involvement.

In the early 1990s, Helms invited a retired head of the KGB, Vadim Bakatin, to dinner at his house in Northwest Washington. “My job was to keep his wife busy,” recalled Cynthia. While the women chatted, Helms took the former Russian spymaster into his study. “Dick obviously wanted to check some things,” said Cynthia, who strained to overhear their conversation. “I noticed he went through some things that he really wanted to know. One was Alger Hiss, he got confirmation of that.” Bakatin confirmed that Hiss, a former State Department star, had in fact been a spy for the Soviet GRU. “And another thing…was Oswald.” Alas, what the ex-KGB head told Helms about the Soviets and Oswald is not known. And Helms never wrote or spoke about this encounter.

The possibility of Oswald’s having been a tool of the Russians triggered a decade of soul-searching at the CIA: a bitter struggle that would almost paralyze the agency and destroy promising careers. And the man at the center of this drama was the mysterious head of counterintelligence, James Angleton. In his book Wilderness of Mirrors, David Martin described his aura: “Angleton. Even the name suggested labyrinthine conspiracies. His body seemed stooped and cocked to one side in a way that hinted of both deformity—as if his very frame had been twisted out of shape by machinations—and conspiracy, as if he were perpetually bending toward someone’s ear to whisper a secret.”

Angleton had an office on the second floor of CIA headquarters, where he sat at his desk, enveloped in cigarette smoke, the blinds closed, barely illuminated by a green desk lamp. Once a bright light of the CIA, Angleton in his later years would become a kind of Death Star, pulling people into his orbit and ruining careers. And Helms, blinded by admiration and loyalty, was at a loss for how to deal with him.

The trouble began with the defection of a Russian major named Anatoliy Golitsyn. Assigned to the Soviet embassy in Helsinki, Finland, Golitsyn escaped to the United States on December 15, 1961, in a dramatic dash with his wife and daughter by train across the Finnish-Swedish border. He was flown to the United States, where Angleton and his counterintelligence (CI) staff were waiting for him.

Golitsyn told Angleton that the CIA had been penetrated at the highest level by Russian spies. Be on the lookout for CIA officers with the letter “K” in their surname, he warned. Moreover, Russian defectors were actually KGB plants, Trojan horses sent to deceive the West with disinformation. It was all part of a sophisticated and diabolical Soviet deception campaign. As Angleton weaved Golitsyn’s warnings into the web of his Master Plot, he would henceforth consider every defector, and many CIA officers, guilty until proven innocent of spying for the Soviets.

“We used to call it Sick Think,” said Gerber, the veteran operative whose friendship with Helms was strained by the Angleton affair. Critics within the CIA dubbed Angleton’s conspiratorial musings “the Monster Plot.” There was no arguing with the byzantine logic of the counterintelligence chief, said Gerber. “I’d say, ‘Here we have this and that and I think such and such.’ And he’d say, ‘Well, I understand, based on what you know, but if you only knew what I know.’ I’d say, ‘Well, tell me.’ He’d say, ‘Well, I can’t tell you.’ I became convinced he was the Wizard of Oz; there was nothing there except a curtain.”

But Angleton’s authority was almost impossible to challenge. And he used that authority to mount a campaign against one of the CIA’s most valuable informants, a Soviet defector named Yuri Nosenko. After Kennedy’s assassination, Nosenko, a KGB lieutenant colonel still working for the Soviets, met secretly with his CIA handlers while on leave in Geneva and assured them that the Russians weren’t involved with Oswald. But Angleton was having none of it; he insisted that Nosenko was lying—he was a KGB plant. Hadn’t Golitsyn warned them about just such a thing?

After he defected to the U.S., Nosenko was put in solitary confinement at Angleton’s insistence—verbally abused and harshly interrogated for nearly two years. Angleton’s suspicions were never confirmed, and Nosenko was later relocated in the U.S. But it was just the beginning of Angleton’s reign of paranoia: More than a dozen CIA officers were fired, or their careers derailed, based on unfounded accusations of spying for the Russians. “He destroyed some agency career people’s lives, there’s no question about it,” said Richard Kerr, a veteran CIA analyst who would become deputy director. “The suspicion of everything, of everybody, was nearly a disease, an infection.”

While the agency was in the grip of Angleton’s infection, Helms, now the DDP, was loath to rein in his old friend; he had Angleton’s back. “It was a question of loyalty there,” said Burton Gerber, the Russia expert who was Helms’s contemporary. “These old boys knew each other. When he writes about Angleton in his memoir, you can see he’s queasy about the whole thing.” No intelligence service, Helms wrote, “can for very long be any better than its counterintelligence component.” And no one was better at counterintelligence than Angleton. Helms’s wife, Cynthia, recalled a pointed conversation about their odd, idiosyncratic friend: “Dick sat me down one day—he didn’t often do this—and he said, ‘I want you to understand something. You are going to have to defend my stance on Angleton, and I want you to understand that I have made up my mind—because I will never have a mole with Angleton there, and that is more important to me than anything.’ ”

No doubt, Angleton had an eye for moles and a mind for counterintelligence. The only trouble was, in an almost unbelievably ironic twist, Angleton himself had been betrayed by the most notorious Russian mole of all.

Harold Adrian Russell Philby, better known as “Kim,” was a rising star in the British intelligence service, MI6, a smooth-talking bon vivant who charmed his way into the nerve center of American intelligence. Philby had met Angleton at Bletchley Park in England, the headquarters of the British wartime decoding effort, and saw him again in Rome. While serving as Britain’s chief liaison to the CIA and FBI in Washington, the British spy struck up an intimate, boozy friendship with the American counterintelligence chief over long, martini-soaked lunches. Angleton and his wife, Cicely, often flew to London, where they babysat Philby’s children while he gallivanted around Europe.

But all along Philby was a Soviet spy; he’d been recruited at Cambridge University in his early twenties. When the CIA finally put two and two together and Philby was exposed in 1951, the disgraced British intelligence official was recalled to England at the insistence of the CIA. Philby quit MI6 but was not arrested by the British (no one wanted to face the embarrassment of such a scandalous intelligence breach); he joined The Economist as a foreign correspondent. In 1963, at an apartment in Beirut, an MI6 officer confronted him with evidence of his treason. The next day Philby fled to Moscow, where he spent his remaining years gloating about his betrayal of the West. He died, a hero of the Soviet Union, in 1988.

Angleton was crushed. His friend and intelligence soul mate had not only made a fool of him; he’d given up to his Soviet masters scores of CIA and British agents who were summarily tried and executed. Angleton was never the same after Philby’s betrayal; he drank more and more heavily, and receded deeper into his wilderness of mirrors. But as long as Helms had anything to say about it, Angleton would remain the head of counterintelligence at the CIA. (Decades later, in 2007, at a dinner party at Washington’s Willard Hotel, this author found himself seated next to an elegant, diminutive woman in her nineties. “Mrs. James Jesus Angleton,” she replied proudly when I asked her name. “My God, you must have known Kim Philby!” I said. Cicely Angleton paused for a beat, and then said: “Well, evidently not well enough!”)

One day in 1965, President Lyndon Johnson summoned Helms, then the CIA’s Deputy Director of Plans (DDP), to the Oval Office. Since Kennedy’s assassination, LBJ hadn’t given much thought to the CIA. But now he was ready to make some changes. “John McCone has resigned,” he told Helms, “and I’ve decided to appoint Admiral William Raborn as the new DCI. Do you know him?” “No, sir,” replied Helms. “Well, you will. You’ll be named deputy director at the same time. I want you to go to every meeting with the admiral whether here or around town. You know the agency. Red doesn’t.”

Vice Admiral William “Red” Raborn was evidently chosen to run the CIA because LBJ loved the way he ran the Polaris Missile program. But the agency wasn’t the only thing Raborn didn’t know. Geography was also not his strong suit. At one meeting that became grist for the CIA gossip mill, the new director asked his briefer about Libya: “Is that a land-locked country?” The briefer replied: “Well, mostly.” After just fourteen months, Raborn resigned. On June 30, 1966, LBJ appointed Richard Helms as his new Director of Central Intelligence.



During the two years he served as Johnson’s CIA director, Helms would regard his boss with a mixture of fond admiration and complete exasperation. Helms admired LBJ’s determination to achieve his dream of a Great Society; he was exasperated by his obstinacy over Vietnam. “He really admired Johnson,” said Cynthia. “And he really thought that Johnson suffered so over Vietnam. He said it was agony to see him sitting with his head in his hands.” Helms was not an agonizer; when it came to Vietnam, he was “the coolest of advocates,” as his biographer Powers put it, “presenting his agency’s views on paper, defending them on paper, a paper general in a paper war.” Nonetheless Vietnam was a flesh-and-blood debacle, and it became for Helms “my nightmare for a good ten years. Like an incubus… it seemed I would never be free of it.”

The war had gone from bad to worse after an American-backed coup toppled South Vietnam president Ngo Dinh Diem in 1963. Barely three weeks before Kennedy’s assassination, an aide barged into the Roosevelt Room, where the president was meeting with aides, and announced that Diem had been killed; a cabal of generals had seized power. Kennedy turned ashen and abruptly left the room.

Whether he felt responsible for the death of Diem—whom the U.S. considered an impediment to the war effort—is anyone’s guess, but Kennedy knew that he’d given the generals the green light to proceed. For his part, Helms insisted his conscience was clear. “We were following orders and we were doing what we were supposed to do,” he said later. “But we had no role in this.… It was the Vietnamese who got together and chopped up Diem.… It simply is not true that the agency had anything to do with [it].” There’s no evidence that the CIA conspired in Diem’s murder—but, also, no doubt that the U.S. encouraged the rebellious generals to stage their coup.

In the beginning, Helms was excluded from LBJ’s inner circle. After briefings with the president and his advisers, at Johnson’s request he’d gather his papers and excuse himself. That was fine with Helms, who considered himself a neutral broker of intelligence, content to keep his opinions on policy to himself. “My role was to keep the game honest,” he said. But Helms’s standing with LBJ improved markedly after war broke out in the Middle East in 1967.

In the fall of that year, the Israelis warned the U.S. that without American help they faced defeat at the hands of their Arab enemies. Helms assured LBJ of the contrary. The CIA estimated that not only would Israel defeat her Arab neighbors but that the war would last no more than seven days. That prediction looked prescient after Israel’s lightning victory in the Six-Day War. Helms proudly called it “the intelligence bingo of my time.” Shortly thereafter, newly impressed with his CIA director, LBJ invited Helms to stay behind for lunch. From that day forward, he was a regular guest at Johnson’s famous Tuesday lunches where the inescapable subject was Vietnam.

While Helms was preoccupied professionally by the war, his personal life took a fateful turn. He and his first wife, Julia, had been drifting apart. “She wanted a little more from him, and he didn’t have a lot to give,” said their son, Dennis. “His job was 8:15 in the morning till 7:15 at night, half a day on Saturday.” Helms was restless, too, and in 1965, at a dinner party, he met Cynthia McKelvie, a British expatriate also on the verge of divorce. She was opinionated, curious, and adventurous; as an eighteen-year-old during World War II she’d joined the “Wrens,” Women’s Royal Naval Service, and ran naval harbor craft, often under Nazi bombardment. With LBJ’s permission (he felt compelled to ask for it) Helms divorced Julia. He and Cynthia were married in 1968.

Helms now had a partner who shared his passion for tennis and ballroom dancing. Years later, during Nixon’s presidency, they found themselves on the White House dance floor, waltzing next to Fred Astaire and his partner, Farah Pahlavi, the glamorous Shahbanou, or empress, of Iran. “Dick on the same dance floor with Fred Astaire was his idea of heaven,” recalled Cynthia. Tight-lipped with everyone else, Helms confided nearly everything that was not classified to his new wife—especially his frustrations with LBJ over Vietnam.

By 1966, when Helms became DCI, 200,000 American troops were fighting in Vietnam out of more than two million who would join that losing cause. LBJ was desperate to give them good news and kept calling Helms in search of it. “You’ve got to give them some hope,” the president pleaded. “Just like a football team: You call them at the half and they are 21–0 behind and say, ‘Goddamnit boys, you can do it, now here’s how to do it. Let’s go!’ That’s what I’ve got to do. So I’ve got to rely on you to get this stuff.”

In an attempt to force the North Vietnamese to the bargaining table, LBJ launched Operation Rolling Thunder, a massive campaign of B-52 bombardments over North Vietnam. Had it intimidated Hanoi and changed hearts and minds? The answer, Helms told him emphatically, was no. In fact, the CIA concluded: “We see no signs that the air attack has shaken the confidence of the regime.… North Vietnam in the short term at least, will apparently take no positive step toward a negotiated settlement.” Analyst Richard Kerr recalled: “Our reporting was consistently negative, in terms of the effectiveness of the bombing and the question of whether the people were being won over.”

If anything, Helms told Johnson, the enemy’s will to fight was stronger. CIA analysts reported that North Vietnam’s ability to move troops and supplies down the Ho Chi Minh Trail, its main supply route to the South, had increased fivefold. In a 250-page study, “The Vietnamese Communists’ Will to Persist,” they concluded: “Nothing happening to the Vietnamese Communists as of mid-1966 is bad enough to make them stop fighting.” By defending the CIA’s relentlessly pessimistic estimates, Helms, who’d come up through the ranks as an operative, won the respect of the agency’s analysts.

He had to play referee between the CIA’s rival camps, who held diametrically opposed views on the conflict. The operatives on the ground in Saigon—including a future director named William Colby—were mostly convinced the war was winnable; they were by nature aggressive, can-do, optimistic—or if not, willing to suspend disbelief. By contrast, the analysts at Langley were deeply pessimistic, convinced there was no light at the end of the tunnel, in the metaphor of the day (or that the light was a freight train coming toward them). Helms chose a different metaphor. Trying to corral his feuding camps, he was “a circus rider standing astride two horses, each… going its own way.”

The third horse was the Pentagon and its Military Assistance Command, Vietnam, or MACV. While American troops were dying at a rate of nearly three hundred per week, the CIA and MACV engaged in a fierce argument over the size of the enemy they were facing. The bone of contention was the Order of Battle, the estimate of enemy troop strength. MACV calculated that the North Vietnamese troops were approximately 250,000 strong. The CIA counted “irregulars”—part-time fighters, guerrillas, and such—and put the number at twice that: about 500,000.

Helms’s special assistant for Vietnam affairs, George Carver, reported that General William Westmoreland, the commander in Vietnam, had simply ordered MACV to ignore the CIA’s estimate.


So far, our mission frustratingly unproductive since MACV stone-walling, obviously under orders.… [The] inescapable conclusion [is] that General Westmoreland… has given instruction tantamount to direct order that [enemy] total strength will not exceed 300,000 ceiling. Rationale seems to be that any higher figure would generate unacceptable level of criticism from the press. This order obviously makes it impossible for MACV to engage in serious or meaningful discussion of evidence.



In the end Helms hammered out a compromise with MACV; he knew that the CIA couldn’t win an argument with the Pentagon over enemy troop strength. But he felt he hadn’t pulled his punches with LBJ. “I was honest about my point of view and stood up to him, I didn’t take a lot of backtalk from him.”

Still, eventually it became clear that the president wasn’t listening. Helms never gave in to Johnson’s hectoring for good news—but he did not pile on with bad news either. “Helms reached a point where, in the morning briefings and the president’s daily brief, we just slacked off on providing information on Vietnam,” said analyst Kerr. “We did not do the aggressive pieces that were negative, because they were counterproductive.” Helms knew that bad news simply got LBJ’s back up. The president was fixated on the Pentagon’s ever-mounting toll of enemy casualties: “the body count.” Cynthia recalled her husband’s frustration: “The body count was a huge issue—who you count, and who it is that goes into that. But it was just endless, and he felt it was focused on the wrong thing.”

Helms thought it was time to reconsider the fundamental assumptions behind the war. It was an article of faith among LBJ’s advisers that allowing South Vietnam to fall would trigger the toppling of one neighboring country after another until all of Southeast Asia succumbed to communism. It was called “the domino theory.” But was there anything to that theory? At a pivotal meeting of LBJ’s senior advisers back in 1965, the war’s controversial architect, Defense Secretary Robert McNamara, made an impassioned argument: “Our national honor is at stake. Our withdrawal would start further probing by the communists. We would lose all of Southeast Asia.” In August 1967, on his own authority, Helms asked one of his analysts to examine what might happen if the U.S. acknowledged that the war was lost and simply packed up and went home.

The resulting thirty-three-page memorandum, on September 11, 1967, was titled “Implications of an Unfavorable Outcome in Vietnam.” It considered what might happen after the U.S. made a “reasonably orderly” withdrawal from Vietnam.


At some stage in most debates about the Vietnam war, questions like the following emerge: What would it actually mean for the U.S. if it failed to achieve its stated objectives in Vietnam? Are our vital interests in fact involved? Would abandonment of the effort really generate other serious dangers?



The memo conceded some risks.


There could be a spectacle of panic[ked] flight from the country, suicidal resistance by isolated groups, and Communist terror and vengeance. Clearly if this worst case came about, the discredit the U.S. would earn, which would be seen by many as not merely political but also a moral discredit, would be far greater.

… if one or more states in Southeast Asia did in fact fall under Communist control… the region could be in a turbulent and regressive condition for a long time. This would mean a major frustration of U.S. policy aims, but we think would not bring any major threats to U.S. security.



It concluded:


… If the analysis here advances the discussion at all, it is in the direction of suggesting that such risks are probably more limited and controllable than most present argument has indicated.



The memo was full of caveats, but Helms knew it was damning; given the bitterly contentious debate over the war, just its existence would be politically explosive. Cynthia recalled her husband’s trepidation about showing it to LBJ: “He told me that he was going to stay behind after the Tuesday lunch and talk to Johnson, and give him the memo. He said it’s a little risky because I shouldn’t really be doing that. But he really felt so involved in LBJ’s trauma. He really thought that Johnson should get out of Vietnam.”

Helms gave Johnson the memo in a sealed envelope. And then he waited. Helms would later write that the president never said a word about it: “President Johnson never mentioned the document to me; nor, to my knowledge, did he raise it with anyone else.” But it’s hard not to suspect that Helms was dissembling here, perhaps keeping a presidential confidence. “Did LBJ read it?” I asked Cynthia. “Oh, yes,” she said. “And they talked about it. Dick was saying that there’d be no domestic repercussions if he got out of Vietnam. I suppose you could say that’s advocating. But he really wanted to help him.” Mrs. Helms did not know what LBJ said in reply.

Did any of LBJ’s advisers, or his war cabinet, read the memo? It was addressed to both LBJ and his national security aide, Walt Rostow. Rostow never acknowledged seeing it, but Cynthia believed he read the memo—and destroyed it, realizing how dangerous it would be to the war effort if revealed. Rostow “deep-sixed it,” she said.

Years later, Cynthia was at home alone. The phone rang and she answered it. It was McNamara, who at the time was researching his forthcoming memoir, In Retrospect: The Tragedy and Lessons of Vietnam. When published in 1995, the book would become a sensation with its dramatic mea culpa. More than 58,000 Americans and countless Vietnamese, McNamara now believed, had died in an ill-conceived cause.

Over the phone, more than twenty years after the American defeat, McNamara told Mrs. Helms that he’d just read “Implications of an Unfavorable Outcome” for the first time. He’d found the memo, declassified in 1993, in the archives of the LBJ Library. McNamara was shocked that he hadn’t seen it before. “Why wasn’t I shown this?” he demanded. “This would have helped me! I should have known!” “He was screaming over the phone at me,” said Cynthia. “He was just furious.”

In his memoir, McNamara wrote: “Having a senior adviser submit a memo questioning the fundamental premise underlying our involvement in a war, and not allowing him to discuss it with his colleagues, is certainly no way to run a government.” Helms shared McNamara’s vexation with LBJ’s decision-making process—the keeping of secrets from colleagues, the pitting of advisers against one another, the cajoling and bullying. But Helms also knew that you couldn’t change a president, and that CIA directors shouldn’t try.

“Every president is going to do business the way he wants to do it,” Helms reflected years later. “You say, well, he should discipline himself—but they never do. They do it exactly the way they want to do it. Even if you convince them that they ought to do it differently, they’ll never do it more than twice… and then they go back to the way they wanted to do it before.”

Helms almost never raised his voice, rarely betraying annoyance or satisfaction. But one day a CIA analyst named Jack Smith barged into his office and got a rise out of him. Why, Smith demanded, had the president just approved a war initiative that the CIA had trashed in a recent study? “Dick fixed me with a sulfurous look,” recalled Smith. “How do I know how he made up his mind?” Helms snapped. “How does any president make his decisions? Maybe Lynda Bird was in favor of it. Maybe one of his old friends urged him. Maybe it was something he read. Don’t ask me to explain the workings of a president’s mind!”

Yet Helms came to believe he understood Johnson. Why didn’t LBJ cut his losses and extricate the U.S. from the quagmire of Vietnam? Helms thought it was for just one reason: He couldn’t bear to be the first American president to lose a war.

In the summer of 1967, Johnson pushed Helms to go after his enemies at home. LBJ and his inner circle were convinced, despite no discernible evidence, that the leaders of the antiwar movement were controlled and directed by foreign communist powers. The president wanted Helms and the CIA to confirm this supposition—by any means necessary. Specifically, the president wanted the agency to conduct domestic surveillance of anti-Vietnam protesters.

One might have expected Helms, of all people, to refuse point-blank: The CIA was forbidden by its charter to engage in domestic police activities; surveillance of U.S. citizens required court-ordered search warrants. But when Helms tried to object, Johnson cut him short: “I’m quite aware of that. What I want is for you to pursue this matter, and to do what is necessary.” The next day, Helms set up a Special Operations Group (SOG) and MHCHAOS was born. (The prefix MH was for projects with worldwide reach.) Under the program, which ran from 1966 to 1973, the CIA would illegally compile files on 7,200 Americans and infiltrate antiwar groups and even unrelated organizations—from the women’s liberation movement to the Jewish service organization B’nai B’rith.

Why did Helms succumb to LBJ’s pressure? He had a soft spot for Johnson; Helms sympathized with his anguish over the war. He also thought he had little choice but to go along. “Johnson never said to me, ‘do X, Y, Z,’ ” Helms explained. “He said, ‘I need this.’ So MHCHAOS was an effort to put in real life terms the solution to his problem.” I asked Cynthia why her husband didn’t draw a line. “Why not simply say, ‘Mr. President. I’m sorry, that’s illegal. We can’t do that?’ ” “Well, I think he did,” she replied. “He said he didn’t want to do it. He tried not to, he tried not to break the law. But he did it. He just felt that LBJ needed help.”

As with MONGOOSE, which targeted Castro, Helms reasoned that the way to minimize the danger, and keep it under wraps, was to put the operation under his thumb. As he later explained: “Because the president had directed us to sail so closely to the wind, I wanted to keep this activity compartmented from other operational activity and firmly under my control.” The truth was, Helms was sailing not close to the wind but right up on the rocks: Later, MHCHAOS would be exposed by New York Times reporter Seymour Hersh.

Helms had allowed his sympathy for a president to distort his judgment as director; he’d violated the law and the CIA’s charter. He would face a similar test, and even bigger stakes, with Richard Nixon.

Johnson’s announcement in March 1968 that he wouldn’t run for reelection shocked almost everyone. But it didn’t surprise Helms; he’d seen the war—and LBJ’s heart condition—take a heavy toll on the man he “had thought to be indefatigable.” Helms was worn out, too, but he wanted to stay on as director—and got his wish when Nixon reappointed him. Over the next few years, he’d have ample opportunity to wonder whether he should have retired with LBJ.



In the beginning, Helms barely saw the president. “Nixon just didn’t like to deal with people individually the way Johnson did,” Helms recalled. “They’re just different personalities. He liked to deal through his staff.” The director was told to go through Henry Kissinger, Nixon’s imperious, domineering national security adviser, who would give summaries of his views to Nixon as he saw fit. Moreover, the President’s Daily Brief (PDB)—traditionally the agency’s conduit to the president—would go first to Kissinger and the national security team. Nixon wasn’t reading it. Adding insult to injury, Nixon installed two loyalists as Helms’s deputy directors: General Robert E. Cushman, who’d been Nixon’s military aide when he was vice president, and Vernon Walters, a retired Army general, who’d worked as his interpreter. Helms soon realized they were sent to spy on him.

Nixon didn’t hide his disdain for his CIA director. At NSC meetings, he interrupted Helms frequently—sometimes gratuitously, often correcting him on some niggling point of fact or geography. Nixon’s low opinion of the CIA’s workforce was also on display. “What are those idiots out in McLean doing?” Nixon wondered aloud. “There are forty thousand people out there, reading newspapers.” Helms shrugged off the slights; he worked for one president at a time, and he’d take whatever indignities came his way. “Get on with it!” was his favorite rallying cry (and his advice to beleaguered successors). But he found Nixon puzzling—and bizarre. He told Cynthia he felt sorry for the president’s wife, Pat Nixon. One day he watched as Mrs. Nixon stepped out of a car and stumbled, landing on her face on the pavement. The president didn’t move a muscle to help her.

Nixon was convinced that the CIA’s past was full of skeletons, particularly involving the Kennedys; he surmised that Helms and his ilk must be covering up for them. The president’s close aide and domestic adviser, John Ehrlichman, had assembled a team of oddball investigators known as “the Plumbers,” so named because their original mission was plugging national security leaks. They were told to find dirt on Nixon’s enemies and political opponents—and if that failed, to manufacture it.

One of the plumbers, a veteran ex-CIA operative named Howard Hunt, created a bogus White House cable tying President Kennedy to the Diem assassination. Then, one day in 1971, Ehrlichman called Helms with a request: Would he send over the CIA’s documents on the Bay of Pigs and the Diem assassination? Helms replied that such a request would have to come from the president himself. Ehrlichman arranged a meeting with Helms and Richard Nixon.

Just before the meeting, Nixon and Ehrlichman engaged in a giddy conversation, caught on the White House tapes; they chatted excitedly about all the skeletons they imagined must be hidden in the CIA’s closets. “Helms is scared to death of this guy Hunt that we’ve got working for us—because he knows where a lot of the bodies are buried,” Ehrlichman told Nixon. “Supposing we get all the Diem stuff, and suppose we get something that we can really hang Teddy or the Kennedy clan with… we’re going to want to run with it.” Nixon enthusiastically agreed.

But it was an exercise in wishful thinking; there was no secret cudgel to bring down on the Kennedys—or any hammer involving Helms and the Bay of Pigs. It was all a figment of Nixon’s imagination. (Much like another president’s delusion, more than forty years later, that a computer server from the Democratic National Committee was spirited away to the Ukraine.)

When Helms arrived for his appointment at the Oval Office, he was carrying an assortment of files, apparently innocuous, related to the Bay of Pigs. “I said, ‘Now do you want these papers? Here are the problems and so forth,’ ” Helms recalled telling the president. “Nixon said, ‘these things didn’t happen on your watch’… and gave me certain assurances that while he wanted the papers, he would not use them to damage the agency or anything.” Helms agreed to give him the files. Nixon later complained that the Bay of Pigs file was “incomplete.”

A few years later, a congressional report criticized Helms for having given anything to Nixon; future CIA directors, it said, should have their own political base or independent means by which to withstand presidential arm-twisting. Helms was infuriated. “It’s just baloney that you have to have a personal fortune or a big political base to have the guts to stand up to a president,” he fumed. “I stood up to Nixon, I stood up to Johnson—and if anybody can tell me any time when I failed to do so I’d appreciate knowing it.”

As the Vietnam War raged on, Helms had many opportunities to stand up to Nixon. The president had promised a “secret plan” to end the Vietnam War, but Nixon had no plan, only the vaguest notion of getting out without appearing to have lost. Helms thought Nixon’s chances of success were no better than Johnson’s, but he stayed in his lane, continuing to deliver news the president didn’t want to hear. “He would do it in a way that’s polished but that would not pull his punches,” recalled Charlie Allen, the veteran analyst. “Maybe it was his years in journalism, in policy circles, in Europe, his understanding of other cultures and language.” But while Helms was polished around the cabinet table, he would let his hair down with Cynthia. “We were at a dinner party,” she recalled. “I can remember it so clearly. Kissinger got up and said, ‘Peace is at hand.’ And he made this speech. Well, we got going out through the passageway, and Dick said to me, ‘Bloody hell! You haven’t gotten any peace at all.’ ”

Yet the crisis that would make Richard Helms a household name, and cause him the most personal anguish, would unfold closer to home. In 1970 a leftist candidate named Salvador Allende was poised to win Chile’s presidential election, threatening to nationalize industry and confiscate foreign-owned property. This unexpected development was anathema to Nixon, who feared that all of South America, from Cuba to Chile, would become a “red sandwich.” Since 1960, the CIA had been disseminating anti-Soviet propaganda and pouring money into the campaigns of Chile’s centrist candidates. It did the same in the run-up to the 1970 election.

Even in the context of the Cold War, Allende was hardly a serious threat to American national security; Kissinger would later quip, “Chile is like a dagger pointing to the heart of Antarctica.” But the possibility of Allende gaining power alarmed American corporations, including International Telephone & Telegraph (ITT) and Pepsi-Cola. “There was really no heavy U.S. interest except business interest,” said Burton Gerber, the Russia hand. “That’s what was driving it.” That and one other factor. As Helms put it: “Truman had lost China. Kennedy had lost Cuba. Nixon was not about to lose Chile.”

The CIA predicted that a centrist candidate would win the election. Instead, Allende squeaked out a victory in a plurality; when approved by the Chilean Congress he would assume the presidency in a little over a month. The reaction in the White House was apoplectic. At a hastily called meeting with Kissinger and Helms, Nixon was furious with his director, convinced the CIA had failed him again. Helms was to do whatever it took to prevent Allende from taking office, Nixon demanded. As the president fumed, Helms scribbled notes:
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